
 
UNITED 
NATIONS 

 

CERD 
 

 

 
International Convention on 
the Elimination 
of all Forms of 
Racial Discrimination 
 

 
 
Distr. 
GENERAL 
 
CERD/C/SR.1531 
16 August 2002 
 
Original:  ENGLISH 
 

 
COMMITTEE ON THE ELIMINATION OF RACIAL DISCRIMINATION 

 
Sixty-first session 

 
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 1531st MEETING 

 
Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, 

on Friday, 9 August 2002, at 10 a.m. 
 

Chairman:  Mr. DIACONU 
 
 

CONTENTS 
 
THEMATIC DISCUSSION ON DISCRIMINATION BASED ON DESCENT 

              
 This record is subject to correction. 
 
 Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages.  They should be set 
forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record.  They should be sent 
within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, 
room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva. 
 
 Any corrections to the records of the public meetings of the Committee at this session 
will be consolidated in a single corrigendum, to be issued shortly after the end of the session. 
 
GE.02-43933  (E)    130802    160802 



CERD/C/SR.1531 
page 2 
 

The meeting was called to order at 10.15 a.m. 
 

THEMATIC DISCUSSION ON DISCRIMINATION BASED ON DESCENT 
 
1. The CHAIRMAN invited Committee members to present their comments in response to 
the informal discussion with non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and States parties that had 
taken place the previous afternoon. 
 
2. Mr. ABOUL-NASR said that most speakers had focused either on caste systems or on a 
critique of European countries, with emphasis on the problems experienced by developing 
countries as a result of slavery and colonialism.  He had wondered whether invitations to the 
thematic discussion had been sent to all NGOs with consultative status in the Economic and 
Social Council, and, having looked into the matter, discovered that they had not.  He would be 
interested to know who had prepared the invitation list, and on what basis.  The NGOs in 
attendance predominantly represented one group.   
 
3. He strongly disagreed with the interpretation of the term “descent” to mean merely 
“caste”, an important aspect of descent but surely not the sum of it.  He also disapproved of the 
discussion of the definition of the term “descent” in the internal note prepared by the Secretariat 
for the purpose of the thematic discussion, contained in paragraph 7 of document 
CERD/C/60/Misc.13.  He questioned whether a discussion of descent should ignore the 
headlines of the day’s papers, such as, for example, Mr. Sharon’s proposal that Palestinians 
should be removed from Israel, or a decision of the Australian courts on the matter of Aboriginal 
rights.  It was not acceptable for the Committee to limit its discussion of descent to the problem 
of caste in India and in several African countries.   
 
4. Mr. PILLAI said he had been struck by the absence of any presentation on descent-based 
discrimination in Europe, Australia or the Americas.  It appeared to be customary practice now 
for passengers on flights to Europe from India to be subjected to addition security checks and to 
require passengers from India to hold transit visas in order to change planes, even if they never 
left the airport.  Indian newspapers frequently carried stories of Asian passengers traumatized by 
immigration and security officials in the Americas.  Little had been heard from developed 
countries regarding how they proposed to deal with the emerging trend of systemic 
discrimination based on descent against Asians as a result of the events of the previous year.   
 
5. The consideration of the tenth to fourteenth periodic reports of India to the Committee 
in 1996 had been a milestone in the interpretation of the Convention and in the work of the 
Committee, clearly establishing that the role of the Committee included the examination of 
social as well as racial discrimination.  Since then, there had been considerable international 
debate on that position, and other human rights treaty monitoring bodies and the 
Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights had accorded greater 
attention to the matter.  Consideration of that issue in connection with subsequent State party 
reports had prompted mixed responses:  Japan, for example, had disagreed with the Committee’s 
position, and Nepal had accepted it.  The academic community had also taken an interest, and 
many papers had been written on the matter of descent-based discrimination and the role of the 
Convention in handling it, among them one by the Japanese professor of international law,  



 CERD/C/SR.1531 
 page 3 
 
Mr. Murakami, who had spoken the previous day, contending that the broadest interpretation of 
the term “descent” was the most appropriate, and would not lead to an unjustifiable expansion of 
the role of the Convention.   
 
6. Although the NGO Declaration delivered at the close of the World Conference against 
Racism had stressed discrimination based on descent in a social context, the Declaration and 
Programme of Action of the World Conference had stressed discrimination based on descent in a 
racial context, in particular as it applied to the African and Asian diaspora.  The Committee must 
not let that divergence of views influence either its perceptions or its work.  The Convention was 
the best instrument currently available for achieving a balanced approach to that issue.  Nor must 
the Committee abandon its approach that issues of discrimination based on descent must not be 
limited to the racial context.   
 
7. The scope and meaning of the Convention must be seen as inclusive rather than 
exclusive.  The Committee could not, therefore, ignore the conclusions of Declaration and 
Programme of Action with respect to the problems faced by the African and Asian diaspora, or 
those faced by people of Asian descent in the wake of the events of 11 September 2001.  In his 
view, the lack of agreement among States parties on the issue must not continue.  Referring to 
the position taken by the National Human Rights Council of India at the World Conference 
against Racism accepting that caste discrimination in India was a major human rights issue, he 
said that the United Nations human rights bodies could be expected to discuss it as such.  Japan 
and India must reconsider their views with respect to the competence of the Committee to 
consider the issue of descent-based discrimination.  That being said, the States parties’ own 
efforts to overcome such discrimination, as emerged from their dialogue with the Committee 
when the periodic reports were discussed, should be given due attention.   
 
8. There were similarities and differences in the discriminatory social and other practices of 
different countries and, unless the Committee could find some common denominator identifying 
all such practices as caste discrimination, it should continue to use the expression 
“discrimination based on descent”, and should employ the term “caste” only with reference to 
countries where, in their own terms, castes existed.  He shared the view that studies of caste 
systems must be undertaken.   Since more than 200 million people in South Asia suffered from 
discrimination deriving from caste practices, discrimination on the basis of caste must occupy a 
permanent place in the Committee’s deliberations.  The Committee must, however, resist any 
temptation to regard that form of discrimination as the only discrimination based on descent.   
 
9. In view of the harsh treatment of Asians in Europe and the Americas as a result of the 
events of 11 September 2001, which transcended national and religious distinctions, the 
Committee should take a comprehensive and inclusive approach to the diverse issues of 
discrimination based on descent. 
 
10. The general recommendation to be formulated by the Committee in the light of its 
enhanced understanding of the issue must be generally applicable.  Considering the lack of data 
about descent-based discrimination in Europe, Australia or the Americas and the sketchy 
information on the situation in such countries as Senegal, Somalia or Nigeria, he felt that the 
Committee did not have enough information at its disposal and should consider resuming the 
discussion with a somewhat different emphasis.  If it did wish to begin work on a general 



CERD/C/SR.1531 
page 4 
 
recommendation, he proposed that it should concentrate on the efficiency and commitment of 
implementation mechanisms where well-developed policies and programmes existed; the 
creation and strengthening of mechanisms where such mechanisms were non-existent or 
inadequate; a clear policy for tackling social attitudes, especially among policy makers and in 
bureaucracies; greater attention to the criminal justice system and to educational systems; the 
role of NGOs; and stereotypes based on descent. 
 
11. Mr. THORNBERRY said that the accounts of victims of descent-based discrimination 
and their supporters had forcefully brought home the fact that such discrimination was a harsh 
reality for many millions of human beings.  He would not return to the history of the debate over 
the word “descent”.  When interpreting the Convention, each term should be given a meaning 
that added something to the others.  The intention of the drafters was less important than the text 
they had drafted.  As a basis of discrimination, the term “descent” signified forms of inherited 
status.  Under the Convention some - though not all - instances of descent-based discrimination 
might equally be addressed under the criteria of race or colour, and ethnic or national origin.  
The term “descent” indeed added something to the Convention and, like the other human 
attributes mentioned in article 1, it was non-negotiable.  The question of communities of 
inherited status was analogous to other terms in the Convention in that the group concerned 
might be treated as though it were a separate race or ethnicity.  By the same token, the 
Committee had also shown great concern for the status of minorities and indigenous peoples. 
 
12. The Committee did not need a vast study of possible meanings, or a final definition of 
descent-based discrimination.  The term was clear, and encompassed caste and other analogous 
systems of social stratification based on birth.  Systems of social stratification arose by many 
means and had been perpetuated for various reasons.  The terms “descent” and “race” had been 
frequently used interchangeably in earlier academic writings.  Although caste was not an 
Orientalist or colonial creation, it had been systematized by the colonial powers.  He was 
sceptical of assertions that caste systems had a millennial religious basis, an argument that 
enhanced their scope and power.  Nor was he surprised that upper castes supported the caste 
system:  religion, like ethnicity, could be a convenient cloak for power.  If it was asked whether 
the Committee was not intruding into historical, cultural or religious systems, it might equally be 
asked whose culture was involved, and who spoke for that culture.  The sense of belonging and 
meaning provided by a caste was greatly weakened when caste members contested the validity of 
their condition. 
 
13. Caste systems represented hierarchy, not equality; segregation, not integration; bondage, 
not freedom; and value determined at birth without regard for morality, achievement, intelligence 
or character.  He would not offer a strict definition of descent-based discrimination or caste.  The 
existence of such discrimination was a matter of fact.  He agreed with Mr. Pillai that its scope 
was wide, and that caste was one of its facets.   
 
14. If the Committee were to adopt a general recommendation, it should focus on the need to 
encourage Governments to report on the existence of castes, and to take action in a constructive 
spirit to eliminate such discrimination.  The Committee should propose to work with 
Governments to encourage States to take action or further action, and to share with each other 
models of good practice. 
 



 CERD/C/SR.1531 
 page 5 
 
15. Mr. THIAM said that his country, Guinea, was composed of 14 ethnic groups, each made 
up of tribes, within which were castes.  He had observed many degrees, differences and nuances 
in the manifestation of discrimination based on descent.  Descent was drawn from birth, and was 
the umbilical cord tying a person to a community.  The community was a family, a tribe, an 
ethnic group or a caste.  Even within an ethnic group, there were differences between men and 
women based on descent.  His children had more rights than the children of his sister because his 
were the descendants of a man.  
 
16. Currently, people from certain countries or nationalities had to have visas in order to pass 
through the airports of certain other countries.  Limiting the discussion of descent-based 
discrimination to caste would be tantamount to concluding that discrimination on regional, 
religious, ethnic, or linguistic grounds did not exist.  The Committee must, in his view, give the 
broadest possible definition to the concept of descent.  Descent was not biological, but social and 
cultural.  A person was born without a definition, and others attached a definition to him that 
limited his rights and inflicted suffering on him. 
 
17. In order to combat discrimination on the grounds of descent, the Committee, in its 
recommendations, should encourage those countries where there was still a caste system to 
introduce the necessary measures, including literacy programmes, to provide impoverished 
minorities - who were all too often the victims of the caste system and consequently condemned 
to what amounted to slavery - with the means necessary to lift themselves out of poverty.  Only 
when they had economic independence would they be able to fight for their cultural and other 
rights.  In his view, any definition of descent should extend well beyond the confines of caste 
and encompass, inter alia, ethnicity, tribe and region. 
 
18. Mr. VALENCIA RODRIGUEZ recalled that article 1 of the Convention had established 
five grounds of racial discrimination, each of which had its own meaning and scope.  The term 
“descent” implied one generation inheriting from another specific characteristics that were 
positively or negatively evaluated by society.  The resulting stratification of some societies had 
led to the emergence of groups of people who were excluded from the rest of society and 
regarded as “untouchable”. 
 
19. It had been argued that the concept of “descent” was already covered by the other four 
concepts, especially race, and that, furthermore, it should be interpreted in accordance with 
national legislation and the particular circumstances of individual countries.  If that were true, the 
concept of descent would not have been specifically mentioned in the Convention; moreover, the 
main requirement in the interpretation of a Convention was that its provisions should be of a 
general nature and independent of national legislation and circumstances.  It had also been 
argued that descent-based differences had social or class origins, not racial ones, and that the 
term “descent” had been included in the Convention in order to clarify certain ambiguities 
arising from such terms as “place of origin” and “national origin”.  However, it should be 
recognized that acts of racial discrimination, regardless of their causes, were a reflection of the 
society that perpetrated them, whether or not they were sanctioned by law. 
 
20. He recalled that the definition and scope of “descent” had been established in a number 
of international legal instruments, including Sub-Commission resolution 2000/4 
(E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/16) and the Committee’s own General Recommendation XIV.  On that 



CERD/C/SR.1531 
page 6 
 
basis and, contrary to the assertion made by India in its 1996 report (CERD/C/299/Add.3, 
para. 7) it was clear that the term “descent” mentioned in article 1 of the Convention did not refer 
exclusively to race.  The Committee had reiterated its position that the term “descent” had its 
own meaning and was not to be confused with race or ethnic or national origin when considering 
the initial and second reports of Japan (CERD/C/304/Add.114, para. 8). 
 
21. Like Mr. Thornberry and Mr. Thiam, he considered that the five concepts should all be 
on the same legal footing and subject to a balanced and equal interpretation.  To maintain 
conformity with the objectives of the Convention, “descent” should be interpreted in a way that 
afforded protection to those groups that were discriminated against on the grounds of certain 
inherited characteristics which, by tradition, society regarded as negative or which set them 
apart.  Moreover, such an approach accorded with the preamble to the Convention, which 
affirmed the determination to eliminate racial discrimination throughout the world in all its forms 
and manifestations.  Finally, it should be borne in mind that more than 250 million people 
worldwide suffered either directly or indirectly from discrimination based on descent. 
 
22. Mr. SICILIANOS noted with satisfaction that, although there had been differences of 
opinion regarding the interpretation of article 1 of the Convention, the States parties that had 
taken the floor during the thematic discussion had openly recognized the existence of 
descent-based racial segregation in their countries and had undertaken to deal with the problem. 
 
23. It was the first time in the history of the United Nations that a discussion on descent with 
the participation of both NGOs and States parties had taken place and it would be unfortunate if 
such a memorable event were to be marred by lasting disputes over the interpretation of the 
scope and definition of “descent” in article 1 of the Convention.  He consequently suggested the 
insertion in the proposed general recommendation on descent of a subparagraph entitled 
“Discrimination based on descent:  the problem of caste”. 
 
24. He further proposed that, in the preamble to the general recommendation, reference 
should be made to the relevant instruments, including the Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights, the 1993 Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, in particular, paragraph 5, and 
the Declaration and Programme of Action of the World Conference against Racism; that the 
Committee should reaffirm its position on discrimination based on descent, including the caste 
and other similar systems, with regard to implementation of the Convention; and that mention 
should be made of the public thematic discussion on descent-based discrimination and the 
contribution of States parties, NGOs and experts. 
 
25. With regard to the operative paragraphs, he proposed that the following actions should be 
included:  the Committee should seek information from Governments on the measures, including 
legislative measures, they were taking to eradicate caste-based discrimination, particularly the 
double discrimination suffered by women; States should ensure that their legal frameworks, 
regardless of their level of development, should be straightforward and user-friendly; existing 
laws must be implemented; positive measures should be taken and dedicated bodies established 
to assist the victims of descent-based discrimination; greater access to justice by the affected 
communities should be ensured; the role of the police should be evaluated; segregation in 
education, the workplace and public places should be abolished; incitement to hatred and the 
dissemination of ideas of racial superiority should be prohibited; the civil, political, economic, 



 CERD/C/SR.1531 
 page 7 
 
social and cultural rights of the affected communities should be promoted and protected; and 
States should be encouraged to use education and the media to raise public awareness of the need 
to eliminate descent-based discrimination. 
 
26. Mr. KJAERUM regretted that more States parties had not participated in the thematic 
discussion, but welcomed the contribution of so many NGOs.  The nature of the violations 
against the inherent dignity of human beings that had been described clearly demonstrated that 
the underlying causes could not simply be attributed to culture, religion or tradition, but were a 
human rights issue created by descent-based discrimination.  With regard to the definition of 
descent, on which the Committee had adopted a position and developed a practice, the key 
element was that some people were born into a group which they had no possibility of leaving.   
 
27. He supported the proposal to elaborate a general recommendation on descent.  It would 
assist Governments when reporting to the Committee and NGOs in providing supplementary 
information by giving them a clearer idea of what the Committee regarded as the core issues.  It 
should also enable Committee members to be more consistent when considering States’ reports.  
In that respect, European countries with Asian and Somali communities, in which descent-based 
discrimination was still prevalent, should address the issue in their future reports and take steps 
to ensure that the afflicted communities were not also discriminated against by the majority 
population, as Mr. Pillai had mentioned. 
 
28. The general recommendation needed to be user-friendly; it might take the same form as 
that on Roma which was substantive without being cumbersome.  Consideration should be given 
to the fact that several States had already introduced legislation prohibiting descent-based 
discrimination and had even established affirmative action programmes.  However, their 
governments generally had many decades of tradition behind them and might also have a vested 
interest in maintaining the status quo, a factor which complicated the issue still further. 
 
29. Mr. LINDGREN ALVES recalled that there had been obstacles to discussion of the issue 
of descent at the World Conference in Durban.  The Committee agreed that the scope and 
meaning of descent in the Convention went beyond caste.  What was still at issue was whether it 
differed from race.  He, too, supported the elaboration of a general recommendation and agreed 
with Mr Sicilianos’ suggestion regarding the proposed subparagraph.   
 
30. He agreed that the Committee’s approach should be broad and that criticism should not 
be levelled at individual countries.  Nevertheless, India was a special case, as the Government 
had itself pointed out.  The persistence of the problem stemmed from a millenia-old tradition and 
it was very difficult to change society.  The Government of India had commendably introduced 
legislation on discrimination and established affirmative action programmes, but implementation 
proved problematic.  Part of the problem arose from the fact that the authority of Governments 
generally had been weakened by economic globalization and the growing conception of 
governments as ineffectual.  Such a situation was also serious from the point of view of human 
rights since Governments were responsible for their promotion and protection.  It also reinforced 
the need for a general recommendation on descent, not only for the benefit of States, but also to 
raise awareness among the leaders of multinational corporations with investments in countries 



CERD/C/SR.1531 
page 8 
 
where the caste system persisted, to encourage them to treat afflicted communities preferentially 
in the matter of employment.  In that respect, he agreed with Mr Thiam that poverty was the 
most serious obstacle to implementation of anti-discrimination legislation. 
 
31. With regard to the fashionable concept of multiculturalism, he disagreed with its 
advocates because, in his view, it gave indirect support to the continuation of harmful traditions.  
The Committee should therefore continue to be inspired by the universal values of human rights 
as laid down in paragraph 5 of the 1993 Vienna Declaration. 
 
32. Mr. TANG Chengyuan said that, despite the very full discussion on the definition of 
descent that had taken place, none had yet been agreed upon.  That was because the issue was 
both widespread and complex.  He saw inheritance as the most important aspect of the debate.  
Race, colour and culture were all inherited characteristics, but even among people of the same 
skin colour, groups of people were singled out and discriminated against.  What all the afflicted 
groups had in common, however, was inherited poverty. 
 
33. He agreed with Mr. Aboul-Nasr that a broad definition would therefore be best, one that 
was global yet took account of the situation in individual countries.  Attention should be focused 
on eliminating discrimination against one group of people by another.  He had noted the positive 
measures that had been adopted in many countries.  Now the challenge was to ensure that they 
were implemented.  The Committee should work with Governments to find effective solutions 
that would eventually lead to the elimination of all forms of racial discrimination. 
 
34. Mr. AMIR said that it was important not to focus on the problems in one country, which 
might imply that a particular set of problems was peculiar to that country and therefore 
insignificant in a wider context.  The question of how far back one should trace one’s lineage in 
order to define one’s identity was certainly a knotty one; accordingly, to avoid sterile theoretical 
debate, it might be wiser to concentrate on grave injustices in the world today, such as the plight 
of the Palestinians, who were being subjected to flagrant discrimination and oppression on a 
daily basis. 
 
35. Mr. RESHETOV said that decisions to distinguish between a superior and inferior group 
of people lay at the heart of descent-based discrimination.  The criteria used in drawing such 
distinctions were often very subtle and intricate.  In the former Soviet Union, the authorities had 
routinely asked probing questions about a person’s class origin, or whether a person had spent 
time in enemy-occupied territory during the war.  People who supplied undesirable answers were 
excluded from good jobs.  It had come to his attention, although he was willing to be corrected 
on the point, that the Government of the Czech Republic had a policy of asking people to reveal 
whether they had been employed in the government apparatus under the previous regime.  The 
implications of such an enquiry were clear.  In Sri Lanka, ethnic Tamils apparently had great 
difficulty in obtaining Sri Lankan citizenship, even though they had been born in Sri Lanka.  
Persons of Russian descent in the Baltic States were currently subject to various forms of 
discrimination; for example, in Estonia, native Russian-speakers in custody were permitted to 
lodge complaints only in the Estonian language, and it had to be good Estonian at that.  In 
Latvia, ethnic Russians were forbidden to participate in elections or establish their own political  



 CERD/C/SR.1531 
 page 9 
 
parties.  In its general recommendation, the Committee would have to establish some kind of 
monitoring mechanism, specify certain standards, and instruct States parties to include 
information about descent-based discrimination in their reports. 
 
36. Mr. YUTZIS said that, when interpreting the terms used in the Convention, the 
Committee should always be alert to the danger of over-analysis and the risk of sounding 
platitudinous.  Yet at the same time the ambiguous connotations of certain words or expressions 
should not be allowed to obscure their essential import.  Descent was more than just the question 
of caste, yet caste should not be excluded from the debate.  However formulated, the general 
recommendation should call on States parties to detect and monitor manifestations of 
descent-based discrimination and develop appropriate instruments to complement the 
Committee’s deliberations on the matter. 
 
37. Ms. JANUARY-BARDILL said that discrimination was merely one component of a 
much wider concept, namely oppression, a word which was not often heard nowadays, perhaps 
because it was felt to be too threatening.  The term “discrimination” was blander; it failed to 
evoke dehumanization, tokenization, humiliation and disenfranchisement - in short, the 
systematic denial of a person’s humanity.  She hoped that, in speaking of descent, the Committee 
would not forget that the word encompassed all those things too. 
 
38. It was perhaps easier to decide who to include in rather than who to exclude from a 
debate about descent.  Descent-based discrimination rested on biological differences such as skin 
colour and social differences such as caste.  It also incorporated elements of gender and sexual 
orientation.  It was supported by very powerful, ingrained ideologies that were transmitted and 
exercised through religion, education, clubs and societies, financial institutions, the legal 
structure and political processes.  The end result was always poverty and deprivation.  But who 
or what should be ruled out of the discussion?  What about the British class system, for instance?  
It should be frankly recognized that education alone was incapable of eradicating centuries of 
social and cultural conditioning; while not neglecting legal, political and economic solutions to 
the problem of descent-based discrimination, greater weight should perhaps be given to the 
social and cultural forces at work in society.   
 
39. Mr. de GOUTTES said that the decision to hold a thematic discussion on discrimination 
on grounds of descent was a historic initiative.  He expressed gratitude for the information that 
had been provided by NGOs during the informal discussion held the previous day, which had 
illustrated a courageous commitment to the issue by certain individuals.   
 
40. As Mr. Aboul-Nasr had pointed out, it was virtually impossible to address all forms of 
discrimination on the basis of descent in the context of the current debate.  Caste was just one 
source of such discrimination.  It was difficult to define the term “caste”, which should not be 
confused with “social class”.  It did not refer to the de facto family, cultural or professional 
hierarchies that existed in most societies and did not lead to any form of exclusion or 
discrimination, nor did it refer to all vulnerable groups of people; for example, the Roma did not 
belong to a caste system.  Conversely, it referred to a system that deprived individuals of 
freedom and human dignity.  It signified a total lack of social mobility, for the status of an 
individual was determined by birth or social origin and could never change, regardless of 
personal merit.  There was a hierarchy within the system itself, between superior and inferior 



CERD/C/SR.1531 
page 10 
 
castes.  Those belonging to the latter were subjected to many forms of discrimination in social, 
economic, political and cultural terms; such forms of discrimination could be used as indicators 
of a caste system.   
 
41. It was the responsibility of States parties to address the issue of the caste system at 
national level.  In most States, all persons were de jure equal before the law.  However, a 
legislative framework served no purpose if it was not implemented.  All States should be urged 
to provide effective legal aid to persons from inferior castes and to facilitate group access to the 
courts, as strength was often found in numbers.  After having exhausted all available domestic 
remedies, victims of caste-based discrimination should be able to seek action at international 
level.  States parties should not only endeavour to accept the procedures set out in article 14 of 
the Convention, they should take concrete steps to raise public awareness of the options available 
to victims.  In addition, measures should be taken to address the root problems of the caste 
system, for example, by raising the awareness of religious authorities and the media.  Particular 
attention should be paid to the women and children who belonged to the caste system, who were 
especially vulnerable to discrimination. 
 
42. Mr. BOSSUYT said that the NGO testimonies the previous day had served to raise the 
Committee’s awareness of the issue of descent-based discrimination.  People who belonged to 
inferior castes faced discrimination on two counts:  first, because they were forced to practice the 
least desirable professions and second, because they were consequently deprived of fundamental 
rights such as access to resources, schools and religious establishments, and contacts and 
marriage outside their social group. 
 
43. There was no doubt that such discrimination fell within the scope of the Convention, 
therefore justifying the Committee’s concern with the issues raised by such practices.  It was true 
that such practices were based not on government policies but on traditions and attitudes that 
were difficult to eradicate.  It was the responsibility of the governments concerned to prevent 
them and to implement existing anti-discrimination legislation.  The legislative framework was 
largely in place; what was lacking was effective implementation.  Further efforts were needed to 
raise awareness, particularly among local authorities, that such practices were unacceptable and 
should be punished.  Clearly, a sound socio-economic policy making for the improvement of the 
general welfare of the society in question was the best way to put an end to such practices, 
together with a guarantee of greater social equity and the realization of economic and social 
rights.  Education would help break the taboos and end the prejudices that stood in the way of the 
elimination of such practices. 
 
44. The Government of Nepal was to be commended for having participated in the previous 
day’s discussion, illustrating its awareness of the gravity of the problem and of the need to step 
up efforts to improve the plight of some segments of the population.  He also welcomed the 
contribution made by members of the Sub-Commission on the Protection and Promotion of 
Human Rights.  The holding of thematic discussions was well advised and would help the 
Committee to be particularly vigilant when considering the reports of States parties that faced 
such problems.  
 



 CERD/C/SR.1531 
 page 11 
 
45. The CHAIRMAN, speaking as a member of the Committee, agreed with previous 
speakers that the issue of descent was much more far-reaching than the notion of caste.  Racial 
discrimination had to be addressed in terms of the criteria listed in article 1 of the Convention.  
Particular attention should be paid to descent-based racial discrimination, which existed in many, 
but by no means all, countries; the Committee should therefore focus on States parties where it 
was a problem, and take a balanced and practical approach, addressing social, economic and 
cultural issues.   
 
46. It was important not to get lost in definitions; after all, the issue affected millions of 
people so could never be covered in its entirety.  The term “minority” had not yet been clearly 
defined despite years of discussion.  The Committee had received ample information to 
formulate a general recommendation, the contents of which would not be exhaustive but would 
constitute a step in the right direction. 
 
47. Mr. ABOUL-NASR said he was in favour of drafting a general recommendation on the 
issue.  He agreed that the Committee should avoid seeking a definition for every word that was 
used.  In the general recommendation, the Committee should encourage concerned States in their 
efforts to combat discrimination, paying particular attention to States whose legislation codified 
the differentiation between people on the basis of descent. 
 
48. Mr. PILLAI drew attention to the fact that in its concluding observations following 
consideration of the tenth to fourteenth periodic reports of India in 1996 (CERD/C/304/Add.13), 
the Committee had stated that the term “descent” mentioned in article 1 of the Convention did 
not solely refer to race.  The Committee should clarify whether or not the present discussion 
referred solely to caste; if so, the Committee was overlooking a major development that had 
taken place at the global level, namely the World Conference against Racism, which had raised 
the issue of the discrimination faced by people of African and Asian descent.  A similar 
discussion should therefore be held on discrimination against them. 
 
49. Mr. YUTZIS said that the general consensus seemed to be that the question of descent 
was more far-reaching than the issue of caste.   
 
50. Mr. RESHETOV said that, while he agreed it would be futile to try to find a strict 
definition of all the terms used in the discussion, a decision would have to be made on the 
terminology to be used in the general recommendation.  The Committee was not interested in 
specific terms that applied to one particular country; its priority was to ensure that the reference 
made to descent would be such that it would not justify discrimination.   
 
51. Mr. de GOUTTES agreed that it was pointless to try to provide an exhaustive definition 
of the term “descent”.  It was more important to react to clear manifestations of discrimination 
based on descent, using indicators such as those he had mentioned earlier in the meeting.    
 
52. Mr. AMIR drew attention to the fact that the word “nomad” was just one of the words 
that was becoming synonymous with the word “caste”, illustrating how difficult it was to provide 
definitions.  The Committee should address the issue of caste rather than descent, as the concept 
of descent was so far-reaching that it would be difficult to make progress.  
 



CERD/C/SR.1531 
page 12 
 
53. Mr. THORNBERRY agreed that it would be unwise to try to find a definition for the 
concept.  However, it was possible to identify key areas of work.  He was in favour of creating a 
set of indicators, which would also be of assistance to governments; the indicators could include 
the notions of hierarchy as opposed to equality; segregation as opposed to integration; and 
bondage rather than freedom to change one’s condition.  Such an approach would be without 
prejudice to further work on the notion of descent and on new situations of discrimination as 
they arose.  He suggested that the general recommendation should recall the legal human rights 
context in which the Committee worked; it might indicate a precise area in which the Committee 
wished to encourage Governments to make progress; and it should follow the main lines of the 
articles of the Convention but highlight some of the questions that did not fall within the scope of 
any particular article.  It should contain recommendations for legal, constitutional and 
educational measures.  The Committee was no doubt faced with a historic opportunity to make a 
difference. 
 
54. The CHAIRMAN asked Mr. Thornberry to coordinate the work of an open-ended 
working group to formulate a general recommendation, provisionally comprising Mr. Sicilianos, 
Mr. Pillai and Mr. de Gouttes.  In reply to the suggestion made by Mr. Pillai to hold a discussion 
on the discrimination faced by people of African and Asian descent, he drew attention to the fact 
that the Commission on Human Rights had already taken a decision to create a working group to 
address the issue. 
 
55. Mr. YUTZIS said that the Committee should consider the role of the Special Rapporteur 
of the Commission on Human Rights on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, 
xenophobia and related intolerance. 
 
 

The meeting rose at 1 p.m. 


